Chapter 22A - Returning to Civilian Life - Postscript

When | completed the compilation and publishing of my father’s WWII story, Who Would Have Known, there
was one period of time where | had no information. He returned to the US in late May, 1945, on the ship M. S.
Ericsson. Like all returning servicemen, he was assigned to one of five national redistribution centers, in his
case, Atlantic City, New Jersey and nearby Fort Dix. Six months later he was honorably discharged. Why six
months, and what happened during that time?

Given the trauma he had endured coupled with the shocking realization his best friends had been killed in
action, | had always assumed his journey from the M.S. Ericsson to private life was one of intense physical and
mental rehabilitation — but | had no way of knowing, until 2023. Speaking to a professional researcher?® at that
time, | discovered that the Freedom of Information Act applied to service member’s Official Military Personnel
File (OMPF) and to their Medical Files. Unfortunately, a 1973 fire at the records center in Missouri destroyed
many OMPF’s from WWII including my father’s. But that was not an issue for me as | had already completed
his highly detailed 1,600-page story. His Medical Records, however, just might fill-in the six-month gap of
information.

In mid-October of 2023, as advised by my professional researcher, | wrote the following letter to the Veteran’s
Administration.

To my surprise, they responded less than one
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g © " Allan M. Hofmann
Fore orusrene s ERamg 49 Dale Road

Middletown, NJ 07748 month later with over 380 pages of
Attn: FOIA Privacy Act Offcer P03 50Y =2 A 11 0 october 19, 2023 documents from my father’s medical “claim
VA Reglonal Office ! HP
Federal Bldg. 31 Hopkins Plaza file”.

Baltimore, MD 21201

Dear Sirs: VA @ US. Department

of Veterans Affairs
I am making this request under the Freedom of Information Act. Please send me a copy of the complete
contents of the Veteran's Affairs “claim file” for the individual named below. 1am not requesting his
service record, just his “claim file™.

Claim Number —XC 5 487 467
2ndLT George Adam Hofmann
Array Air Corps — WWII

B-26 Bombardier

5/N-0-741310
DOB - 9/28/1917 New York City
SSN - 087-07-6853

Liberated - 4/30/1945
Repatriated - 5/29/1945

top of this letter.

Best regards,

Qe 0. ¥pmer

596™ Bomber Squadron, 387" Bomber Group, European Theater.
POW — Stalag Luft IIl, Sagan, Poland — May 1944 through April 1945

DOD - 9/26/1996 Holbrook, New York

Overseas Service — 3/22/1944 - 5/15/1945

Date of Release from Active Duty - 12,/1/1945 — Fort Dix, NJ

b —certificatE 85 proof o HexeorKkm S —

George Adam Hofrmann was my father. | am enclosing copies of his death cer#eate ana Ty Hirth——
! copies ol his de

If you need to contact me, my mobile phone number is 908-915-3171-and my,gmail address is
ahofmann531@comecast.net. A copy of the claim file should be sent to the New lersey address at the

12:36:42
FOR OFFICIK
USE ONLY

3761 —
278/CJS N

Allan M. Hofmann
49 Dale Road
Middletown, NJ 07748
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Disc 1 of *

Over a decade earlier when | opened my
father’s box of WWII memorabilia, my first
thoughts were, “there must be a story in
here somewhere!”

When | opened this new disc, | got that
feeling again, and little did | know | would
finally see how wounded my parents were.
As children of the depression era, they had
been trained to keep their troubles to
themselves — and they were masters at it.
Seeing these heretofore private files broke
my heart.

1 Golden Arrow Research, Geoff Gentilini, Director & Lead Researcher (geoff.gentilini@goldenarrowresearch.com)
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Processing Returning POW’s

Returning prisoners of war (POWSs) were most often processed differently than other returning soldiers at
Separation Centers. This differentiation was primarily due to the unique experiences and potential health
issues faced by POWs during their captivity.

Upon arrival at a Separation Center, POWs would undergo a specialized debriefing process to gather
information about their time in captivity, including any mistreatment, experiences, and information that could
be valuable for military intelligence purposes. This debriefing process was often conducted by intelligence
officers and could be extensive, lasting several days or weeks.

In addition to the debriefing process, returning POWs would also receive comprehensive medical evaluations
to assess their physical and mental health. This evaluation aimed to identify any injuries, illnesses, or mental
health issues resulting from their time in captivity and ensure they received appropriate medical treatment
and support.

Furthermore, returning POWs might have access to specialized support services tailored to their needs,
including counseling, therapy, and assistance with transitioning back to civilian life. These services were
designed to address the unique challenges and experiences faced by former POWs and help them reintegrate
successfully into society.

Overall, while returning POWs went through many of the same administrative procedures as other returning
soldiers at Separation Centers, their experiences, and needs were often recognized as distinct, leading to
specialized treatment and support tailored to their circumstances.

Looking at the gaunt face of 2ndLt George Hofmann when photographed at the
separation center in early June of 1945, he needed a lot of help. Behind the photo
was a 28-year-old man with hair turning white, two heavily sprained ankles and four
compression fractured lumbar vertebrae that had healed without medical
treatment, an undernourished body down from 230 to 175 pounds, emotionally
drained from solitary confinement, transportation in cattle cars, little heat in winter,
no hot water, bouts of dysentary, forced marches where many died along the way
and other experiences too numerous to mention. Finally discovering none of his
very close friends had survived, was the last straw. To keep some semblence of
sanity while in captivity, the prisoners tried to lead somewhat normal lives through
sports and their own entertainment but for most, those moments of distraction and
joy were more than offset by the reality of their surroundings and uncetainy of their
futures. To temper the anxiety of the people back home, publications during the
war painted a more positive picture than was actually the case.

| have no doubt that his debriefings lasted weeks. That included a number of physical exams to assess any
level of disability connected with service injuries. The examiners could not deny the x-ray results of his back
injuries but would not support his claims of service-related injured ankles, dysentary and skin conditions as
there were no existing documents of those conditions. Any records of illness were kept by the Germans and
those were destroyed when the POWs were marched out of Stalag Luft Ill. In additions, any futher injuries or
illnesses that occurred during the ‘Death March’ to Nuremburg and Moosburg were also destroyed when
General Patton liberated Stalag VIIA. From his early medical records, George clearly pursued his claim of
disability due to a defective parachute causing ankle and back injurues but, at the time, let the other issues
drop. That would come back to haunt him later as the affects of PTSD dominatd his life.



Timeline — Arrival to Discharge

Reading 2ndLt George Hofmann’s VA Claim File, it is not clear where he spent all of his time in 1945 after
arriving in New York on May 29 to his December 1 discharge. Some assignments are well documented and
some not. Documents are clear for Atlantic City, Station Hospital in Plattsburg and his two-month terminal
leave. He also referenced being treated at Greensboro, NC, in that order, which might have placed him in
Greensboro just before his terminal leave. There are no references in his medical records regarding
Greensboro.
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While the sequence of events in 1945 is not entirely clear, what is certain from his records is he did arrive in
New York in late May based on the M.S. Ericsson’s ship manifest and telegram home from the War Department
which | have in my possession. His first stop in June was Fort Dix in New Jersey where he most likely had his
initial physical and overall evaluation. Eight weeks later by the end of July he was in a hospital facility in
Atlantic City. By mid-August he was admitted to the station hospital in Plattsburg, New York, for almost three
weeks of physical rehabilitation. On September 30" he completed his trip through the ‘tunnel’ at the Fort
Dix/Atlantic City Separation Center and was placed on a sixty-day termination leave starting October 1, 1945
and ending with his honorable discharge December 1, 1945. That makes some sense to me given nine months
after his release from Plattsburg and a probable trip home was May 31, 1946 — my birthday!

Thomas England General Hospital — Camp Boardwalk,
Atlantic City

England General Hospital, Atlantic City, N. J.

When the United States entered World War Il in late 1941,
no time was wasted in readying troops and facilities for
combat. In 1942, Atlantic City became occupied by the
military, with 47 different hotels and hostels being
repurposed for the war effort.

Atlantic City, now nicknamed "Camp Boardwalk," was an
ideal location for military training and soldier
rehabilitation. Since its once-high visitation rates were in
decline, many of the resort's hotels were nearly empty
already, meaning displacement was minimal.

Atlantic City's coastal location ensured that valuable training exercises could be performed on the sand,
something troops needed for later beachfront battles in France and Japan. The Boardwalk provided a perfectly
even path for injured soldiers going through physical therapy, especially those who were now amputees
learning to use prosthetic limbs. Many amputee veterans later expressed that without the help and
environment given to them at Camp Boardwalk, re-entering society would have been almost impossible.

From 1942-1946, Atlantic City housed over 300,000 soldiers. Boardwalk landmarks were renamed, as the
massive Convention Hall became the Army Air Corps Technical Training Command Center, and the Haddon Hall
hotel (later Resorts Casino) became the Thomas England General Hospital. Originally encompassing 5 different
beachfront hotels before being reduced to just the Haddon Hall, England General was the largest hospital in
the world at the time.

The environment in the city was different too - beaches were closed at noon so that soldiers could do
calisthenics on them, lights had to be turned off at night or windows covered with blue cellophane, and no girl
under 18 was allowed on the Boardwalk unescorted after 9 pm.

Despite the changes, however, Atlantic City's residents embraced the military presence. Many families invited
soldiers into their homes for Sunday dinners, and training exercises on the Boardwalk drew large crowds.
The Saturday Evening Post quoted Private Herb Dotten as saying that the spectators "give... an added snap and
makes you feel the importance of a job you otherwise might think as a lot of drudgery."



3Y CAMP BOARDWAL!

The military presence, in turn, helped Atlantic City
return to its former glory. Celebrities once again
turned out in droves to visit the soldiers; famous
names visiting the resort included Bob Hope, the
Andrews Sisters, Abbott and Costello, and Joe
DiMaggio. Many military families also came to
vacation in Atlantic City in order to see their boys off
before going to war. Winners of Atlantic City's famous
Miss America Pageant participated in War Bond tours
nationwide during these years. In 1992, the 50th
Anniversary of Camp Boardwalk was marked by a
reunion of soldiers at Resorts, many of whom met
again for the first time since the war's end.

Station Hospital — Plattsburg Barracks, New York

< DISABILITY Enlisted Braneh, 4GO
5 . ¥unitions Bldg.
19th & € onstitution Ave.N.%
* Washingtom 25, D. C,
Adj. 215 W. 24th St., N. Y. 2%, N. ¥,  October 9 45
HOPMAN, George A. 5487467
0-741310
o 3/28/43 5/15/41
o e 45 (term. leave 60 days)  3/27/43
| Ao G.-i“ﬁ(lf‘\(n
”; Ft. Dix, ¥, J,
69 W, 104th St. N. Y., 8. Y.
T MRS A 9/29/17

Fractured cospression lst, 2, 3, & 4 sbsr Mey 8, 1944

POW. No hospitalization Plattsbury Conv. 1B days Aug. 1945

Kindly state date of expiration of térmmal leave.
¥. F. GREENE, ADJ. OFF,

Plattsburg Barracks is located on the west shore of the northern portion of Lake Champlain, and within 1 mile

of the city of Plattsburg.

The plan and distribution of its buildings was that of a typical Army regimental post; there was a large parade
with the officers’ quarters along one side, facing the lake, the hospital and barracks in continuation along
another, with the administration building at the southwest corner.
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Greensboro, North Carolina

During World War Il, the Overseas Replacement Depot
(ORD) located in Greensboro, North Carolina, played a
significant role as a military facility. It primarily served
as a major processing center for troops being sent
overseas. However, it's important to note that while
ORD facilities often handled various administrative
tasks related to military personnel, including medical
examinations and processing, they were not typically
designated as rehabilitation centers for injured or
recovering soldiers.

By May 1944, the Air Force had reached its projected
capacity, and the base became part of the Army Air
Force Personnel Distribution Command. The
Greensboro facility became the primary eastern
Overseas Replacement Depot (O.R.D.), where soldiers
were prepared and processed for overseas duty. In
February 1945, the site’s responsibilities were altered
again. At that time, it took on added duties as
Redistribution Station Number 5. In that role, it placed
about 31,000 troops in the Far East as fighting shifted.
Just after V-J Day, in September 1945, the station
began processing personnel for separation from duty.
Thus, during its period of service, the Greensboro
depot provided services ranging over the full cycle of
military duties. Over 330,000 troops were processed in
or out of service or redistributed to another location
through the center.

The country along the lake front,
north and south of the post, and
for 15 miles west to the foothills
of the Adirondacks, forms a
lowland sloping gently toward the
lake. The soil is uniformly sandy,
affording good drainage and
freedom from dust and mud. The
roads throughout the reservation
were of macadam and were
connected with the well-
maintained roads of the State;
the New York-Albany-Montreal
highway passed just outside of
the gates.

o
ENSBORO O.R.D.




As many as 40,000 soldiers were stationed at the
Greensboro facility at any given time. The base was
comprised of 964 buildings, including five hundred
barracks, fourteen mess halls, fifty-five recreation
rooms, four movie theaters, ten PXs, five chapels, three
libraries, and an equal number of gymnasiums, and
one large base hospital. Headquartered at the hospital
were a newspaper and a radio station, both geared
toward entertaining the troops in the Convalescent
Training Program. This hospital was known as the —r
Station Hospital, Greensboro ORD. GREENSSORO, N.C.

Station Hospital, formerly Sternberger Hospital, later
integrated with Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital, played a
significant role in treating soldiers returning from the European
theater. Like many hospitals across the United States during this
time, Sternberger Hospital contributed to the war effort by
providing medical care and rehabilitation services to returning
servicemen.

While specific details about Sternberger Hospital's role in
treating soldiers returning from the European theater during
World War Il may vary, it is likely that the hospital played a vital
role in providing medical care and support to servicemen during
and after the war.

Some of the roles Sternberger Hospital may have played in treating soldiers returning from the European
theater include:

1. Medical Care: Sternberger Hospital likely provided medical care to soldiers who were injured or ill as a
result of their service in Europe. This could include treating a wide range of conditions, from battlefield
injuries to illnesses contracted during deployment.

2. Rehabilitation Services: For soldiers who sustained injuries or disabilities during their service in Europe,
Sternberger Hospital may have offered rehabilitation services to help them regain functionality and
adapt to life with their injuries.

3. Psychological Support: Soldiers returning from combat in the European theater may have experienced
psychological trauma such as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Sternberger Hospital may have
provided counseling, therapy, and other mental health services to support these individuals.

4. Reintegration Assistance: Sternberger Hospital may have assisted returning soldiers with reintegrating
into civilian life by providing vocational training, education programs, and other support services.

5. Research and Innovation: Hospitals like Sternberger may have also been involved in medical research
related to combat injuries and medical conditions prevalent among returning soldiers. This research
could have contributed to advancements in medical treatment and rehabilitation techniques.

The Station Hospital at Greensboro ORD was not only focused on medical treatment but also emphasized the
well-being and morale of its patients, particularly those participating in the Convalescent Training Program. To
boost morale and provide entertainment for the troops, the hospital established its own newspaper and radio
station.



The hospital's newspaper, often referred to as a "base newspaper" or "hospital newspaper," served as a means
of communication and entertainment for patients and staff. It likely contained news about hospital activities,
updates on patients' progress, announcements about upcoming events, and articles designed to uplift and
inspire the troops.

Similarly, the hospital's radio station would have been a valuable tool for providing music, news, and other
programming to entertain and engage the convalescing service members. These radio broadcasts could have
included music shows, comedy programs, news updates, and messages from loved ones, all aimed at boosting
morale and providing a sense of connection to the outside world.

Establishing these forms of media within the hospital environment was a common practice during World War
I, as it helped create a sense of community and normalcy for patients recovering from injuries or illnesses. It
also provided an outlet for creativity and expression among the hospital staff and patients.

Overall, the Station Hospital at Greensboro ORD demonstrated a commitment not only to medical care but
also to the holistic well-being of its patients through initiatives such as its newspaper and radio station, which
played important roles in entertaining and supporting the troops in the Convalescent Training Program.

Mental lliness

' KNOWN BY MANY NAMES...

When a person is subjected to a life or death situation,
a chemical reaction occurs inside the body that
heightens awareness, numbs pain, and otherwise
prepares the body for escape or imminent attack. This
‘fight or flight’ response is a survival mechanism that
generally gives human beings (and other creatures) an
adaptive advantage. This is a healthy, normal reaction. )
If this survival mechanism is engaged for a prolonged =, \ ..

. . : c Wars: Nostat
period, however, side-effects such as severe trembling, ; &= %

. o War: Soldier’s Heart
dizziness, and hyperventilation can occur. The modern , ’S
military refers to this condition as Combat Stress “1 hf’“ >
Reaction, and it is to be expected due to the
emotional, mental, and physical demands of prolonged

combat operations. b A - . P'I‘Sl)

There’s an old saying in the army: “Stay Alert, Stay
Alive!”

Wise words indeed. But how long can a soldier remain in a constant state of alertness before damage is caused
to their mental state? How long before this damage becomes permanent?

It’s difficult to say because the results of long term exposure to combat varies among individuals.

During World War Il, the understanding of psychological trauma, then often referred to as "shell shock," was
limited compared to contemporary understandings of conditions like Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). It
was determined by the US Army that the breaking point for a soldier on the front line was somewhere
between 60 and 240 days, depending on the intensity and frequency of combat. Soldiers experiencing
symptoms of shell shock, such as anxiety, panic attacks, and other psychological distress, were sometimes
misunderstood or stigmatized, and their symptoms were not always properly recognized as resulting from the
stresses of combat.



In some cases, soldiers exhibiting symptoms of shell shock were incorrectly perceived as displaying cowardice
or weakness, rather than being understood as experiencing legitimate psychological distress due to their
wartime experiences. This misunderstanding could lead to negative consequences for affected soldiers,
including disciplinary actions, ostracization, or being perceived unfavorably by their peers and superiors.

However, it's important to note that attitudes toward shell shock varied widely during World War Il, and not all
cases were treated in this manner. Some military leaders and medical professionals recognized the validity of
psychological trauma and worked to provide appropriate support and treatment for affected soldiers.

Over time, as understanding of psychological trauma evolved and research on conditions like PTSD advanced,
attitudes toward mental health in the military shifted. Today, PTSD and other mental health conditions
resulting from combat experiences are generally recognized as legitimate medical issues deserving of
understanding, support, and treatment, rather than being stigmatized as cowardice.

Coupling those social attitudes with normal behaviors of children of the depression era who kept their fears
and anxieties to themselves, | am not surprised there is no mention of psychological trauma in his medical
assessments in 1945. For as long as | knew him, he would never talk about his war-connected upsets. There is
no doubt in my mind that he was behaving the same way during separation. For thirty years, | never saw my
father cry until his world came crashing down in 1978.

Two-Month Termination Leave

ey

After discharge from Plattsburg in late August of 1945 and possible treatment in Greensboro, he continued on
active duty until he proceded through the nominal separation gauntlet at the Fort Dix/Atlantic City Separation
Center . There he was granted a sixty-day paid termination furlough beginning October 1. There are no
records of his activities in September and documents in his medical file issued later that year reference lost
files.



WAR NDFPARTMENT
THE AUJUTANT GENERAL'S OFFICE
WASHINGTON 25, D. C.

S Sadly, the loss of these documents coupled

9 October 45 AN oura1mo with records destroyed in the prison camps
Subject: Clinicel Recerds fer Veterans Administratien . . . . . .
and his silence regarding psychological injury,
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Application for Pension or Compensation for Disability — October 5, 1945

During his two-month termination furlough from October
1 to December 1, 1945, 2ndLt George Hofmann applied mjd‘ m%’!m?fii?%%l‘w_%“mif
for compensation for his disabilities. His claim was : v P AT L i
limited to compression fractures of his 1%, 2"¢, 3" and 4" 1 "f fa jj,t_147¢_u§¢({./4 yL7

ofndmeu, disease, or injury

lumbar vetabraes. i
On March 18, 1946, he was given a 10% disability rating o g
and an erroneous statement that this was not a ‘combat i ®:iNG sHEET .,,. ER iy

Date Miroh 19, 1046
disability’. In fact, his injuries were sustained when his B-26 i it e’ N SO b o 237 aa7
bomber was shot down in combat in France on May 8, 1944. Pl S S et

5/41 /a3
Dates enlisted 3/28/43 . Dates discharged .12/1/45 -

He bailed out and his parachute only partially deployed

Character of discharges . Haa, .. ... Dates of last examination _
causing a very hard and awkward landing. His captors :nm.hmhmmmmul_ﬁww dekone and
ignored his injuries, marching him through German cities on
his way to solitary confinement at the Dulag Luft EiTorwewsd 1a servics in WFTT, Y 10a), Bert 1, bers 2(6)
. . . . Ten Porcent (10%) fram 12/2/25
interrogation center. As part of his two week psychological ° 1830 CORESSION FACTRE, 18T 2, 3, & €T LAGAR - SOMS X-uT CTAYGES
abuse, his injuries were not treated. With other prisoners, O COMBAT DISABILITY

07 3/19/61

he was next loaded into cattle cars and transported by rail
across Germany to Sagan, Poland’s Stalag Luft Il
Bedridden, there was no medical treatment there either.

Although there were no open wounds or loss of limbs, that certinly seems like a combat disabilty to me!
10



By the end of 1946, other medical
and psychological issues were
arising. In particular, he was having
stomach issues. His early January
1947 application to the Veterans
Administration for additional
benefits was rejected as there was
no evidence of record in his previous
files. In a handwritten response, he
provided details of what he had
previously not reported.

One vyear after his discharge
following months of evaluation, the
only recourse at this time was to
provide information that was not
shared during the separation and
rehabilitation process. While this
certainly casts doubt and heralds an
uphill battle with the Veterans
Administration, having been raised in
the Hofmann  household and
exposed to the manifestations his
PTSD, | must believe what is
recorded in my parent’s own
handwriting.

My father responded to the
Administration of Veteran’s Affairs
the day after he received this
rejection letter:

B ® )

‘ /I‘)// /V}
%,, FriSess; M Gentleman:
a4, o ;4;{ Iy ol
mumwm 1 / o Referring to you letter of January 14, 1947 informing me that my claim for
p L) fAiaT my stomach condition is not compensable, | wish to submit the following
DATE /= - ¥
)é..z%.m cuenk Lo M — )%t,zv:ff information that | believe has caused this stomach condition.
‘éiy,ﬂ_’d 2 2 5 Va0 BT | am of the opinion that this condition was brought about by my
Konaton i ..e‘c.,r,...‘,a) f e internment in a German Prisoner of War Camp. Before being shot down, |
- "‘"‘f o dz' < lore, bt S Fedive was in perfect physical condition, and had just passed an Army 64 physical
e e Qi ,(:Z; Sl s examination. After bailing out and hitting the ground with terrific force
e ao, R R which caused my back injury, | was severely shaken up and could not keep
‘{.,m s 7” Jg“za @A/ et any food on my stomach for 4 or 5 days. During my stay in the POW camp
AT ,%zf{,‘«zu%wﬁz at Sagan, Germany [Poland], | was treated for an upset stomach and a
Tz 7 i) Gt yek, —apternrnadive, . CGhden i i
gcq f‘mzw 2 &é/““‘“‘ g ? bad case of Dysentery. Records to this effect were kept at this camp, but
a..::/*‘“" Cezceanct A {u»(iw:é;w during the Russian attacks we were forced to leave Sagan and go on the
ore /rm Cacibel 2 L
=% ?«Z" G 2SS road.
> ua &'Z 74 M vaa s
<f” ;ecma ,;g ok Ao “""é
s/ ;“‘:‘.E.f.,..m%w‘r sk
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All these records at that time were destroyed.

Again, on the road to Moosburg, Germany [Stalag VIIA] | was stricken by
dysentery which lasted approximately 10 days. This time it brought with
it terrific gas pains also a skin condition I still have. | was treated this time
by a Medical Officer who was also a POW. (I did have the skin eruption
treated by Army Doctors at Atlantic City, Plattsburg, New York and
Greensboro, North Carolina, on my return to the states. There are definite
records of those treatments. No mention of my stomach condition was
made in my original claim, because | did not realize the condition at that
time. About three months after my release this condition acted up again
and has stayed with me since, along with the skin eruption.

It was impossible for me to do anything in regard to this case in 1946 due
to continued illness in the family [my mom’s near-death experience with
rheumatic fever]. However, | feel sure | am justified at this time in filing

19

e

ZAN, my claim for this reoccurring stomach disorder.

5 i el e Hoping this information | am forwarding to you will be of some help in
£y g e et B, aiding you to once again reconsider my claim of Form N.K. 3-55A.

Yours truly,

George Hofmann

There are two interesting things in this letter. First, the claim that his skin condition had been treated by Army
doctors and second, that he also recalls being treated at Greensboro, North Carolina. There were no
references to either of these items in any of the documentation in his claim file up through January of 1947.
Coupling that with the loss of his medical records from Plattsburg in 1946, made this claim very difficult to

resolve.

Veteran’s Administration Request for Information — January
17,1947

Based on his written letter, a formal request for records
regarding 2ndLt Hofmann’s claimed stomach condition was
issued by the Veteran’s Administration on January 17, 1947.
Documentation regarding the scheduling of a medical re-
examination of claims, including an assessment of his
stomach conditions, resulted in a ‘Report of Physical
Examination’ issued on January 27, 1947. The report
contained detailed information and confirmation of his back
injury but section 17 of the report, “Digestive System”, did
not reference his stomach or skin problems. A copy of a
record of his physical exam done at the Atlantic City
Reception Center on September 30, 1945, however, did
explicitly say there were no reported problems with
dysentery and a skin condition. There are no documents in
his claim file regarding his treatment at Greensboro, North
Carolina.

The official disability rating notification arrived on January
31, 1947, reconfirming the existing 10% spinal disability and
informing him of a 20% increase in monthly compensation
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VETERANS ADMINISTRATION
NEW YORK REGIOMAL OFF ICE
252 Seventh Avemss, New York 1, N.Y. NK8D
Jamuary 31, 1947 e wo. c5 487 467

Mr. George A, Hofman
71 west 104th Street
New York 25, New York

L

Dear Gir:

Pursuant to Public Law 458, 70th Congrems, enacted Juze 27, 1046, the evidence
of record in comnection with your 41sadilivy claim has been reviewed undsr tha Schadule

d"u..a"y mn-nmu- i%md Veterans Administration Examination

Iv has been determined thAL the evalustion previously given you for your service-
connected disability is to be confirmed and continued. However, your monthly payments
w1l include the ©03 incresses av provided far by Public Law 862, 70th Cougress enacted
August B, 1048,

If there 13 cvidence svailable to you which in your opinion would warrant a
different decision, such evidence should be immedistely swbmitted to this office for

reconsidaration of your alaim, If you have no further evidansa to auhwit, but have sib-
sisntial reasun Lo believe Lhal Lhe decision is not in secordance with Liw law anl Lhe
facts in your case, you may appeal to the Administrator of Veterans Affairs at any time
within one year from the date of this letter. In the event you feel that appellate com—
siderstion is justifisble, further carrespendence relating to the matter should de
sddresued to thia office,

g G}(.Lh'\b
DGaaad AD.\'\D!CA‘!ICOI oryIcER

An inquisy s, or concerning an ex-servics man or weman should, f possible, give veteran’s name and file numbar, whether
€, X0, K, Ny or V. 1f such e numbes la unknown, service or serial aumber should be givens



2ndLt George A. Hofmann

payments enacted by the 79" Congress as Public Law 662. There was no increase in benefits or
acknowledgement of connection of his stomach and skin conditions to the war.

December, 1957

In the tenth anniversary of his prior physical examination and disability
rating, now private citizen Geroge Hofmann was contacted by the
Veterans Administration for confirmation of his physical condition and
rated disability. | was eleven-years-old by then and still totally unaware of
his wartime traumas. | did know he suffered from a painful back which is
not something you can hide. One day while looking for something in my
dad’s bedroom closet, | came across a leather and steel contraption that |
remembered previously seeing under his white dress shirt when he came
home from work. It turned out to be an orthopedic back brace. It looked
terribly uncomfortable even though some of it was padded. It was way
too big for me but like any eleven-year-old, | tried it on. It was awful!

Copyright Museum of Health Care

Following his re-evaluation, his 10% back injury disability was again confirmed but his stomach and skin
condition claims were now formally denied.

Nineteen more years pass and it is now 1976. Now fifty-nine-years-old, a few years earlier in 1970 George left
his career in New York and moved with mom to Florida. His excuse to his children remaining in the New York
metropolitan area was mom’s health. He never said why he also wanted to move.

While in Florida in 1973, George applied for, and was awarded, a Purple Heart medal for his injuries incurred
while bailing out in combat on May 8, 1944. With an acknowledged Purple Heart in hand, three years later, still
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suffering from back pain, becoming more disabled and beginning to publicly recognize and acknowledge his
PTSD disorders, he again writes to the Veterans Administrations.

] unm=ﬁ?"lﬁ"’4ﬂ”5"ﬁ’3iv""o‘ cLam I respectfully request that my claim for increased service-connected
/me P, 4 2 bRy disability benefits be considered on the following:
7 AEslicTFulL //2' UEST  THss oy Elage i i 3
Fon_wiensacie _Sevies - Gunec Asanciry I am presently rated 10% service-connected since my discharge from
SEWLE 47 Rar LDYSiirrir & Tk “ '(_‘L s . . .. . . . .
e c * the Air Force in Dec 1945 for injuries received while | bailed out of an
| A s . =
2w lieary Jawe 6% Souree- airplane resulting in compression fracture — spine.
T oeTe L _MAA.,[* W 222 / Ly iy Gl Lrou
% ld. Zoscz A fEo FTeT ol NS . . . . .
J 2 TR I am suffering from severe pains in the back and it is getting

: Ak:“fi,”:“ GRS e progressively worse — to the extent that it is getting more and more
e =3 difficult to work steadily. | am forced to wear a prosthetic brace for
support. | am now under a doctor’s care but because of the expense
involved I am going to the VA Hospital in Miami for treatment.

SUrFEvE ot SEVELE

_ ionk  mup sore  Liriecir 7o y
/Wity ,,/ Mt Fenegr To (esan
$ A [fResiwETe Lrsce Ffoe S

L Aue Y7y 7 2.

Bz Lre

Doctors report will follow.

/ __ Eoivé

fow 7 A7 MeruZ:

George A. Hofmann

T 1
_//7// ‘l Cerg o ( \/L~LL;¢_‘ |

V_“ N &d 7 A’u, "’/«'iGt»— &  320c3

/v(’écA /é/tL el *}t/u/ b

wn 21-4138

Based on his claim regarding treatment at the VA Hospital in Miami, the Veterans Administration requested his
files only to be informed Miami had no such records! That might have cause even more doubt about his claims
for the VA.

On FEbruary 8’ 1977' hIS FATIENT'S LAST uns FIRST NAME-W IIDDLE REGISTER NO. 6 [ WARD %0

personal physician of five M}/?AMJ/ }?d(,ﬂ'm: Sex [ e o

years wrote a letter on ) e
XAMINATION REQUESTED

George’s behalf supporting { Y h
b&7 071&.?'6; e ) ésﬂ/amﬁ.

his claim of his progressive

[Abowe spece for machonical Imprinting

Worsening back Condition. PERTINENT CUNICAL HISTOHV: OPERATIONS. Pv TSICAL FINDINGS, AND PROVISIONAL DIAGAOSIS .:2 Ov > =}
In his letter, Dr. Lenar /(‘44/ “yZ‘U ! Tﬂvﬂfmé = = = |
indicated he was referring )/ A S I I e 7 [T DE] E-=s 73 Zz-%
his patient to the Veterans &= o

There is narrowing of all the disc spaces in the lumbar spine, with cvidenea lof a

Administration Hospital vacuum effect at the L3-4, L4-5, and 15-S1 ‘interspaces, indicating degenerat.ve
. « disc disease. There are -)dant.. hypertrophic spurring throughout t!ﬁ,lmba' spine,
since he was no Ionger There is a slight rotoscoliosis of the lumbar spine with convexity towards the right.
. . There is a very mild sclerosis of the sacroiliac joints. The hip joints are not #&n-
responding to symptomatic cluded on this examination.
therapy”. Meanwhile, the &
. . . ; - M.J. HARBOUR, M.D.
IOSt dlagnOStIC report Of hIS 12/18/76 _1rDATE OF REFORT: SIGNATURE: (Specity location of kborafory ¥ ol et of sequesting focilingd
. . . . VAH MIAMTI, PL. NC Standard :‘n:‘iﬂ c-.r. ;.. .,_..
examination at the Mla‘ml R e ;7_, /ﬁ/ z/ = ?F)/)ﬂl‘::‘:‘ sragry” Commines
Veterans Administration \ TRANE OF WOSFITAL R GTWER WEGICAL FAGILITY) e et o
Hospital date December 18, — S o s S T

1976, turned up! He had
been there after all.

Two days later on February 10, 1977, he had his rescheduled thorough examination in Miami and his disability
was raised to 20%. His stomach issues were still denied:
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Reporton — C&P EXAMINATION

CLINICAL RECORD

or
Continuation of .

(sign
The veteran presents himself for cval

be worse at the end of the day and tends to stay in the lower back.
he i tched out in the horizontal position that he will notice radi

No Exam
9. NARRATIVE

6-27-71

im g down the lateral aspect of one thigh and then, on some other da
the lateral aspect of another thigh, but usually not down both thighs at the same
time. Objectively, the veteran is a 74" tall, 210-1b., 59 year old, right-
handed male whu enters the examination room with normal carriage, erect
posture and normal gait. He does not appear to be in acute physical distress
and his color is good. He ic alert, cogperative, intelligent and a good historian.
Examination shows his torso tilted/ts the left. There is a scoliosis noted to
ha'zlght, Vaherd iaing Ayshokba’ Aatalr NN TR o) care 18 T SECAnsA " a%e P with the turso Lilted Lo the left aud scoliosis noted to the right. The
paraspinal musculaturc in the area of the lumbar spine is in moderatc spasm. lordotic curve is flattened and the paraspinal musculature in the area of
there 1s, however, no other evidence of spasticity, flaccidity, paralysis, hyper- the lumbar spine is in moderata spasm. The vatcran walks on his heels and
trophy or atrophy. He walks on his heels and toes with difficulty and is unable toes with difficulty and is unable to do a deep knee bend. There is
o 30 a deep kies bend. There is dsfil Limitation of motion of the lusbar definite limitation of motion of the lumbar spine in flexion and extension,
lexion and extension b wever, not in rotation or lateral bend. but not in rotation or lateral bend. The joints arc flexible. There fo no
are flexible, The ex ies are symmetrical. Taharatory tests evidence of spasricity, flaccidiry, paralysis, hypertrophy, atrophy. The
x-ray of the lumbar 7 veteran's private physician, Dr. Lenar, in a statement received on 2-11-77,
indicates that the veteran's back condition mo longer responds to symptomatic|
Diagnosis: 1) Compression fracture, L1, 2, 3 and 4, with probable complicating thereapy.
traumatic arthritis.

. 11-29-76, claim for increase, VAF 21-4138.

. Evaluation of 5C disability.

moH e

. VAE dated 2-10-77 found a compression fracture of the L1, L2, 13, and L4

1. 5C (WWII INC)

2 L 5292 COMPRESSION FRACTURE L1, L2, L3, and L4 LUMBAR VERTEBRAE
B. Reder, M. D. 10% from 12=2-45
| 20% from 11-29-76

TT——spusc owip
7399 STOMACH CONDITION, ALLEGED

087-07-6853

VAH, Miani, Fla. KEPURT DN
Typed 2/13/77 cfs

Redacted

The pain and disability were no better but the increased recognition and compensation was welcomed after all
these years. Life again moved on with my brother and | still in the dark about what was really going on. Then
PTSD hit with a vengeance. The untold story of his wartime experiences which he had kept suppressed for
almost thirty-five years came crashing down on all of us.

Summer, 1978

With most of the family still in the New York area, summer was the time to visit while the children were out of
school. In spite of surviving an airplane crash years ago (actually, two separate crashes!), my father flew
frequently for many years on business between New York, Chicago and Boston to Bonwit Teller’s retail
locations. He even came up to visit me at college a few times while | was at Northeastern University in Boston.
My mom, however, was not a frequent flyer but she put up a good front as she was coming to see family.

They boarded the plane in Fort Lauderdale, apparently without incident. Part way through the flight my father
had a panic attack. By the time they arrived in New York, he looked like the world was crashing in on him. He
tried desperately to hide his emotions, a product of life long keeping-his-problems-to-himself. Mom tried to
cover for him as always.

The visit over the summer was good on the surface. However, as the weeks passed, dad seemed more isolated
and tense. When | was a teenager at living at home, | always saw him with a large glass of wine at the end of
every workday following an arduous commute. That glass came first. Hello, how was your day came second.
He might have been an alcoholic but never a dysfunctional one. But that summer, the wine glass was ever
present.

It was a very quiet trip to the airport for the return flight. If he was nervous, he again hid it well. They boarded
the plane and, as always, we waited around to wave to the plane as it pulled back from the gate. The
departure time came and passed but that did not seem too unusual either. Then my mom and a stewardess

came out holding my father. He was completely distraught. His subsequent letter to the VA asking for help
tells the story:
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I wish to amend my claim for service connection of a
nervous condition which is manifested by severe
claustrophobia and anxiety.

When | was a German POW, | was forced to spend three
weeks in solitary confinement. At the end of that time |
was “a basket-case”. Since this time | have tried, and quite
successfully, to hide this problem until recently.

I was on a flight and all of a sudden the walls closed [and |
could not] stand it. The staff in the aircraft were very
helpful and moved me from seat to seat.

The trip back, | could not force myself to get on the
airplane.

| request consideration of this matter.

George A. Hofmann

My brother drove our parents back to Florida and
they never flew again.

His claustrophobia was profound. It was not
limited to the usual closed or crowded places, like
elevators and small rooms — he could not wear a
coat, ride in a car without hanging out of the
window and he avoided groups of people in both
private and public settings at all cost.

His anxiety was intense. | am sure he constantly feared being caught in claustrophobic situations and | also
firmly believe much of his anxiety came from a fear of showing his emotions. | had said earlier that | had never
seen my father cry. Now when he broke down, he completely collapsed. He would apologize profusely for not
being able to control his “crying jags”. What he kept pent up all those years came pouring out. It was very

difficult to see and | cried with him many times.

Still not fully appreciating PTSD, the Veterans Administration quickly responded showing no compassion or

understanding.
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2ndLt George A. Hofmann

This request to submit

e el
“statements” from doctors, Hoite 3
employers, fellow airmen 'j i o g :._:
and family members to e S
shed light on this condition SR
was pursued, but to no ey 11, 1979

avail.

_ Hargate, Florida 33063
Dear Mr. Hofmanni

This is to contirm that I saw you in my office on
June 9, 1978 with an asutec anxicty reastion
0 claus . 3

Very sincerely,

The following pages contain those e B
. . . Veterans Administration Hospital
statements, this first one from his personal : Mo He

physician and the next two from his®
immediate work supervisor and from me.
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Uity of Margate, Florida

March 29, 1979

$790 MARGATEL BOULEVARD
MARGATE, FLORIDA 33083

TELEPMONE D77-6454

To Whom It May Concern:

Mr. George Hofmann has asked that I, as his immediate Supervisor,
put together a review of his tenure in various positions with the
City of Margate.

1 have worked with Mr. Hofmann for the past seven (7) years and
. in all definitions of the word, he has been my Assistant for the
past six (6) years.

I have had occasion to work for Mr. Hofmann during the first year
of our association. My experience with Mr. Hofmann began in July
1972 as an equipment operator under his direction. Through pro-
motions via Civil Service, I was made Director of Public Works and
Mr. Hofmann was made my Assistant in the form of Superintendent of
City Maintenance.

During my time under Mr. Hofmann's direction I found him to be a
stickler for detail, i.e., very rarely did any responsibility of

the department go unattended. Regimentation was stressed emphatically
by Mr. Hofmann and he demanded excellence in a manner consistent

with his professionalism. He continually controlled situations and
manipulated the employees to obtain maximum results.

. During the next six (6) years this attention to detail has been
maintained but with a certain flavor of indifference and without
the dynamic charge which I had previously associated with Mr. Hofmann.
Over the period of the same six (6) years Mr. Hofmann has become
visably upset on numerous occasions over situations previously
handled in a routine manner. This has been most noticable during
the past three (3) or four (4) years.

This situation has at times become serious in that it has caused
separating feelings between Mr. Hofmann and myself. I also noticed
that during this period of time Mr. Hofmann reflected at length on

his experiences in a prisoner of war camp. Often times repeating
previous experiences several times. 0On several occasions following
these periods of conversations in my office blow ups, concerning
situations previously handled with considerable skill by Mr. Hofmann
would result in several days of i11 feelings between him and myself.
He would busy himself at his desk and basically ignore all around him.
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During the past year, Mr. Hofmann has missed a considerable

amount of time from work for medical reasons. I have not

objecged to these absences as T have personally witnessed several
occasions when he has become upset in areas where several employees
are gathered in a small room with the doors closed. He has become
uncomfortable in the lunch room and left the area when additional
employees would enter.

In one situation during a meeting in our City Manager's Office
I arrived at the meeting late. A1l other Department Heads had
gathered along with Mr. Hofmann as my representative. Upon my
arrival and not finding a place to sit down, I secured a chair
from the secretary's office and blocked the only doorway leading
from the Manager's Office. Approximately ten (10) people were in
the office at Lhe time. Mr. Hofmann became visably shaken and
appeared to attempt to leave on several occasions. It appeared

that Mr. Hofmann was battling himself or faced with considerable
indecision.

It has become increasingly difficult to have confidential conversa-
tion with Mr. Hofmann in any closed or confined area. Again, these
are isolated incidents and the more recent ones are considerable.

The number of others existing during the past three (3) or four (4)

years have, to me, indicated a deterioration of his effectiveness
and his dynamic personality.

This is not to say that Mr. Hofmann is not a valuable asset to
this Department and no consideration whatsoever has been given

to taking any action detrimental to his employment with the City
of Margate.

Mr. Hofmann, in his attempts to find out just what his problems
may be, if any, has requested that I submit this candid review of
my experience with him during his tenure with the City of Margate.

James E. finds, rector
‘Department of Public Works

Eon s




Re. George A. Hot&m

April 15, 1973

TO WEOM IT MAY OONCERN:

I have been asked ta collect my thoughts on any 1t5ms or cir-
cumstances that might shed some light on my fathers recurring
claustrophobic condition, Having been born in 1946, I can not
provide any information that indicates that his personality was
significantly altered by his traumatic experiences during
World War II, However, I feel that I can provide some insight
based on events that, until now, I had never glvon a second
thought., Having little exterleneo in clinical psychology,

I wigl try to be as objective as possible,

My father and I were fairly clooc while I wao growing u{. He
is meticulous, conservative, in many respects a perfectlonist,
very handy and for many activities a jack of all trades. Not
ourprisingly, oincc wec were olose, 0o am I, He is a matural
manager as evidenced by his business career as well as his
current responsibilities with the Department of Public Works

in Margate Plorida, Again, like father 1ike son, I am succeeding
as an Engineering Manager at Bell Telephone Laboratories, On

the other hand, he also tends to be withdrawn, introvertive and
moderately unsociable, I too have acquizred thosec characteristics.

To underscore my fathers effect on my personality, since I
oonslder mysclf to bc thc product of my upbringing, I nced only
look to my brother John. My bdbrother, having been much more
independent of my father than I, is highly sociable and out-
goings In fact he and I are diametrically opposite.

Obviously I am reasonably cognizant of why I am what I am but
as I mentioned before, until now, I have never wondered why
my fathers personality is what 1t s,

My parents never discussed my fathers problem with me until

it chronically reoccurred about a year ago. At that time my
mother confided in me that the first occurrence was immediately
after he relurned home from the War, FoT the most part it has
been remissive since thern (I think) but has manifested itself
in subtle ways that I had previously considered simply
idiosyncrasies of hls personallty.

For example, as I mentioned before, my father is quite handy.
However, he has never been willing to apply his skills in
confined areas (ie under cars, under dashboards, in attics
and so on), He has always enlisted my assistance. Working

in the attlc of our nouse in Plainview, New York is perhaps
the most graphic example that I recall. : Access to that attic
was through a 1%'x2' scuttle hole ‘cut in the ceiling of a
swull closet, 1 spent a lot of time in that attic storing and
retrieving boxes, routing and installing electrical wiring and
antenna wiring, installing ceiling lights and so on. These
Jobs would simply not get done until I was available.

" /7&7/,222¢m¢ V<ZQ/¥2
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Re - George A, Hofmann - 2

As a second example, my father is socially a loner. He has never
liked parties, theater, indoor sporting events and crowds or any
large gatherings in.general even in his own home, 'e attended
many sporting events together but they were always outdoors.

I explicitly remember that to avold the crowds, we always arrived
very early and also left early which I found to be annoying,

But ‘those were the rules. It is also interesting to note,
especially in the 1ight of this discussion, that he enjoyed
seeing movies at drive-ins and in the privacy of his own home.
However, he has never 1iked War movies and has scorned my brother
and I for wanting to see them.

More specifically, my father never talked much about hic War
experiences even though, as any child would, I expressed my
curiosity many times. He did occasionally reflect on his
internment as'a PO but when pressed to elaborate he gave me
the distinct impression that he did not want to discuss it.

I vividly remember one discussion, however, when he described
the cold cramped conditinns of his POY hut, how the POW's wore
glven individual lumps of coal for heat and cooking and how
hls feeling of confinement was aggravated by his back injury
that left him immobile. Also as a boy, I was intoreated in
the excltement of him getting out of his crippled bomber, the
erash, parachuting to the ground and his capture., He has never
discussed any aspect of these things.

About the only other event assoclated with the Yar that he
has openly discussed wag the loss of his cousin Gibby. Gibby
was killed in action. I have never pressed him to discuss

this obviously painful loss but he mentions 1t occaslonally
nonetheless.

In general my fathers emotions are quite constricted. In spite
of several traumatic oxporicnocs that he and I Jointly shurea
(deaths or sickness in the family) I have only seen hin cry
once while I, so much like my father, am emotionally very
sensitive, 1In addition, because of his introvertive mature

and strong masculine personality, he has managed to hide his
neuroses from his children.

In retrospect, beln% somewhat less than obJective for the
moment, I must conclude that these neurotic characteristics

have been a part of my fatherhs personality as far back as I

can remember, As I mentioned in the beginning of this letter,

I am too young to be able to describe personality changes that
cccurred ao o dircet result of his traumatic warllme experiences,
However, I must novw conclude that this is a distinct possibility,

Respectfully,

Allan M. Hofmann §

73 Buckingham Drive
Jackson, New Jersey 0852
201-367-3151 ¥ ol

| am now having second thoughts about my own behavior while this was playing out. Life was getting miserable for my parents but due to our
geographic 1,200-mile separation and their continuing philosophy of keeping their trouble to themselves, | use to believe | never saw the problems.
Now | wonder if | really did see them but did not want to deal with them — a very depressing thought. This is now more palpable by a letter | never
knew my mother wrote until now. This one really hurts! (Note: My mom’s handwriting was so good, this needs no transcription.)
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Four years later in 1984, at the young age of 62, Hazel Jane Hofmann passed. Her heart had been afflicted by rheumatic fever when | was born in 1946.
Except for the miracle World War Il drug, penicillin, she would never have come home from the hospital. | always said how remarkable it was that she
had so many good years. Little did | know how difficult those years actually were for both of them.

21



2ndLt George A. Hofmann

The Battle Continues

Following my mother’s letter and an updated statement from his personal physician below, my father
submitted another handwritten claim.
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s o, enuss

SIATEME:::: ss‘;.:;;:“os CLAIM 077076753 Kc_r Yy PI-4ET Dear Sir;
R e el e L ke sy s b DU R o e b rieeruae)
j“”“‘““ e s I am presently Rated 20% for back a service connected
mhfw-sx-jew--m--m-mnm-m'w-'ﬁ'-"-m""m"wmmm disability. | hereby request an examination and an
e T i Y] evaluation of my service connected disability. Also |

INSam 2 2L Nl 204 Ko faek &prorivio Eonsuilid
/ / / ‘ would like to be evaluated on my claustrophobia which

all peer evidence shows. | am not living and should say
exist day to day. | love my family. My wife is leaving me.
| can’t stop her as she has been a wonderful person thru
my trying times but | am no longer any use to her. My
dear Grandchildren | don’t want to see. My Son who |
was close to doesn’t want to see me. [ouch!]

Cede & olseenl loanl Lo dotn L , My condition is getting progressively worse. | now in
“ : ; '/ T 7 J/‘/Z.' : : (" “ : 4/80 am being up for discharged as | can’t cope with the
5 A o e B L Y men on the job that work under me. | can’t afford to
cipuloy U Latob L Lrce Ehis gl poiy Sorr lose this job or my family. Sir, please, | need help & |
A buly v Speed E all” G 2 2 need it now. Any more pressure — | am at the point
asial rhot = s ['/‘ (' ‘r where any more pressure, there is only one way out. |

z ~ / 7

? Ui s L SR 77 was in prison for 13 months in a 6 + 6 and fed thru waies

Lredfed” / A Lo Y pytipiteaiinsgbel@epecan L o vevensed un [?] Germany not dishes, & this is getting fresher, the

1 CER'HFY THAT the fore; am te m‘ o qﬁ»{td}q knowledg€ md belief. , . ) 3
‘\! % 1940’s, all the time. | am regressing not progressing.

§74 o 40 /) ‘ aA
Joss Z # Lf‘/a P8 ga il \ T 33063
PENALTY - The law provides severe penalties which include fine or lmﬁlmuenl of both, for m willful submission of any statement or f
S o SR B eI bl George A. Hofmann
VAromw 91.41 38 EXISTING £70CKS OF VA FORM 21-4138, JUL 7, *u.s.

Finally, after thirty-five years, someone recognized possible “post-traumatic stress neurosis”.

\ 2350 ‘ ~ Another physical and psychiatric exam was ordered and
o S wﬁ’ e G . .
*)?/ LSS, A o2 ;oulpqu ‘Ys?m E;‘:ﬁﬁmu AT Mio George was notified by a letter, which he never

NOTE. Stuaden e nol fon 1ol bourd completion.
wuil, VILE NumBER “Tas6ciac secunTy wumsen

received. His claim was summarily denied since he was

=0 5...'3:3:7 ﬂtﬂLom on- E‘Zﬁu; a no-show for his appointment. [Ed note: you can’t
| Geone Q. \Norgend | 3\ make this up! How much more miserable can this story
2055 NwW b5 QOye f T got?]
aacane , Cu ’%‘50@ e [ e :
F“\ . ‘L,, | A Veterans
T PRIORTY OF EXAWNATION nnch spoamaie o - 2 Z Administration
0 e . PAusssmen [Jrever -10- £o
> _Dzm O ol HEREG T
SAGILITIES LITED W TEM T o : b ; yt— i U‘{‘f‘/{ﬁﬂ‘“b
T RCE COEETE B 2058 WW ¢S5 ave .
Vi [GHECK DISABLITIES POR WHICH ExXAMinATION i NEEDED e stangadl , FL 33003

‘ng\\m,c.s;v« ‘QUA—JG»A— Ly J

VA Regulations require applicants for disability compensation or pensian or persans receiving
such benefits to undergo an examination when requested.

Since you did not report for your scheduled examination:

l.) P ORTH JR 2 Wa have na chaice hut ta deny your claim

3 b. We hiave had w discntinue yow paywents.

TR AR L TR (Li17 Rain A o Tymans i WeR Suaan 1 e
(o Ngu_\]-v\‘l Caorb\ﬂ'\ )
2 N e

Qa Gsa.-um Qow 5:5 o \4-?.‘\ sWS ‘C\‘\\“\g We cannot ln:: further action unless you infor m us of wmlhwull.mmesx to rc;x’:‘n fg:‘m >
\ Y , WAL examination by signing the statement below and returning this letter to us at the address shown
AL RS Q\%O‘-‘b’ o SaAdee G 7\:0 "’M“\ above.. We will then reschedule your examination and reconsidér your elaim when the
SR CaSe. MNow Ases L\i\ s:“ S examination is completed. IMPORTANT: Pleasc show your full name and VA file number on

N Sn Osads St —
T (S
;E A e e QM MS\\ Qerss . HS T “‘;* s If you believe our decision is incarrect, please see the Notice of Procedural and Appellate Rights
o a,gsﬁ & peanesx 4L E s D Bt i R S R S printed on the back of this letter,
TR YT DA TR G SRR m NS e ..-m, TeryET

Sincerely yours,

g\)«
S v«ui': odwan Qm\“‘w ali correspondence or evidence submitted.

v

cower TENC
FOR AID AND ATTENDANCE OB
Ry ey )

’\?Z%‘QAM(

s »l\
Y

Adjudication Officer

i) RT"FT@"F

e A1—2507 Sossc. e o varomm nuv o e,
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Report on COMPENSATION EXAM

CLINICAL RECORD or

of S. F. _ MDIJUDICATION
(Strida out ona finz) (Specily type of asamination or dste)

(Sign and date)
m-SZyn:eMummotthcurrommumtmt.heyau-u!l.’“unul
1945. After being liberated, he was hospitalized at a hospital in Atlantic City.
Since that time he has not heen hospitalized for any pesychiatric conditions, but
has been under outpatient psychiatric At tha timé he's not
receiving specific treatment. He does take an anti-dapressant callad hosapin,
prescribed to him while he attended the Miami VA Hospital Mental Hygiene Clinic.

Psychiatric Examination: Mr. H6ffman was cooperative and properly dressed and behaved
throughout the interview. He was oriented in time, place and person and displayed a
good concentration and good memory fram both past and recent events. He was able to
do simple calculations and appears to be of an average intellect. His associations were
.gnn'l oriented in general without evidence of gross delusions or hallucinations. He
describes extreme panic consisting of t + cold . pa ions and a sense

of impending doom mainly happening when he is in an inclosed spaces and in crowds.

He has a normal appetite and has some difficulty sleeping. His affect was appropriate
to the content of his thought and his modd unremarkable during the interview. His
insight and judgement were fair for a man of his stated age.

Mr. Hoffman was born and raised in New York City. He is one of four children of his

family. His parents are both deceased; his mother from a heart illness and his father
from cancer. There is no history of mental illness in any meémbers of his immediate
family. He went to school and completed high school. Mr. Hoffman is married and has

two sons from that his only marriage. He has been living in the south Florida area
for approximately 10 years and at present is employed as a supervisor of the City
of Margate, PL. He describes a limited number of secial and daily activities.

Diugmi,; Post traumatic neurosis, a chronic condition manifested by claustrophobia,
a Y to these phobias. His condition is directly related
was a POW in closed spaces.

and symp
'to his trauma suffered while he

T 1

Predisposition

A
¥

+ Stress

of severity moderate.
He is competent for VA purposes.

P LG .
’Zﬂ@ju )

LANES, M. D., Staff Psychiatrist

(Continue on reverse side)

oM () PICran enTries five Name—Iast, Rrat, It a
 GATE; NOIBITAL Gf MBTISAL IRGIITY) m ﬁ’ 5. & men e,
HUFFMAN, George A. l S%.0 i -6853
m""""‘m‘“ I” gk B0 REPORT ON e oF
4 &7 STANDAZD FORM 507
Typed: 31 Jul 80 (f1d) Gomeral Sarvices

LR IR T

After pleading and eventual rescheduling of his
evaluation, on July 31, 1980, thirty-five years
after his release from a POW camp in Germany,
his psychiatric regression is finally confirmed by
Staff Psychiatrist, Dr. P. Milanes to be explicitly
linked to his experiences during the war. In
addition, the physical ailments from his back
injury are acknowledge to be
symptomatic and degenerating.

severely

~ ~
tanaana Form 40T [
Report on
CLINICAL RECORD or
Continuation of §. F, _ ADJUPICATION
(Sirike ot ane foe) < e o W fuiaaiioscas Fota)
Age: 62. (Sidn and date)
20. Height: 6'2".
21. Weight: 210 lbs.
22. Max Wt Past Year: 218 lbs.
23. Build: wWell developed. Overweicht.
24, Temperature: 98.6.
. Gait: antalgic.
28. Rt or Lt Handed: Richt handed.

Special examination of lumbar spine: Veteran states that he had a parachute jump accident
during the WWII, in France, causing compression fracture of several lumbar vertebra,

from L1 Lu L4, At Lhis jump he was made a prisvner and was never senl Lo a hospital,
never had x-rays during the year that he was a prisoner and the only treatment was heat
and massage done by another prisoner and rest on a hard surface. Back in the U.S.A., he
was diagnosed by x-rays with compression fracture of several lumbar vertebrae and he

was told that nothing could be done, except symptomatic treatment and he was placed in a
big trunk brace and given physiothcrapy, ctes

Veteran states that he has been always with pain in the lower back and now he has also
pain in the hips and on some othcr jointa. He was diagnosed a fow ycars ago with gouty

hritis in the knees and the ankles and hé has been on thé 10 years on medication to
stml the level of the uric acid in the blood. Now he is on Allopurinol.

Physical examination: Veteran came into the office with a slow, moderately antalgic gait.
He had moderate difficulty taking off trousers and shoes, because limitation of motion
of the spine,

At inspection there is very marked flattening of the lumbar lordosis. There is a mild
scollusis of the lumbar spine with conddfxity to We right. AL palpation Lhere is a very
bral

marked spasm of lumbar les. At deep tion there is pain all over
the lumbar spine anslumbar paravertebral muscles, more marked on the level of the L5-51.
Veteran states that the pain has been always on the lumbar spine radiating to the side
and never radiating along the buttocks or the legs. He is able to stand on toes with no
pain, but standing on Jeels cause pain in the lower back. He can squat only half the
distance with pain the lower back.

(Cantinus on revarse side)

e ot TR TR - —
i, 1w, lace. hosi \nl: TR NO. WARG MO,

Ftandard Porm $07

HOFFMAN, GEO 087-07-6853

B 7-29-80 REPORT ON o CONTINUATION oF
Typed 8-5- STANDAZD FORM 507

VAH, Mi, Yy Gonucs Sunias Abmialtrtion wnd

Intiagusey Commiton en adice] Recanly

COMPENSATION E

FPMR 1011100 52

XAMIN,

Report on
CLINICAL RECORD ar e ,1,19/
‘ Gonllnunslon of SiF: :UDILA
(Rerihn aut wne fine) (Bpesitr o

./.:...,.-.n.mn or datu)

(Sign and date)
Motion examination: Fl d 45 dew 7
lateral flexion 20 deyrees, both sides; rotation 25
claims pain at full range of motion on all planes.

i

Straight leg raising is positive at 40 degrees, bo
severly positive on both sides.

sides;

Neurclogical examination is normal.

44. Remarks: CDC, Urinaly=is, SMA-G,
.bosacral spine x-rays, were ordered.

46. Diagnosis: 1. Compression fra
loss of motion, severely symptomatic.
2 eVERE ' Scoehnc. o

rees, wilher way.

2, Anteroposterior lateral and Obliqucs

s of lumbar vertebrae from Ll to 14, with

i STAaTS. AW
PRTHRES S 0F THE LhumBoSacr At

; = )\'(‘zc\,A}.
e ’\‘ y g

3. RuBIO, M.D. |

backwards 10 degrees;
VelLeran

Laseque & Patrick signs are

v Spown “)”C‘-
=N PN e
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2ndLt George A. Hofmann

Would you believe, in spite of clear findings from their own doctors, it was still not enough!

An appeal was made again.

X T T T W wewe

TIT NAE - BGLE NAVE +LAST
George A. HOFMANN

| oSSorge e oA S
The Satemeat is =afe ia coanection with & claim for beael1t in he case of the above-named veteraa:
a Z.s

Nl
. g e |
¥ the correct o [ my knowled; i€ i

‘ol a matenial fact, knowmng il to be false.

Dear Sir:

Enclosed are all of the letters | have. I'm in
badly need of Evaluation & a thorough
examination for my nerves.

| have submitted everything when | wrote to
reopen my case. Since then my nerves are
progressing worse and there is a chance |
will be replaced on my job.

The final rating was documented on November 17, 1980. It was My war records, work records and personal
a lengthy three pages but was finally responsive to the | letters show | am a sincere person. Please
substantiated claims. His physical disability was doubled from 20 | try to help me.

to 40 %. While the myriad of dysfunctions rooted in PTSD were

. . . I remain respectfull
still not fully appreciated even ten years after the Vietnamese : pectfully

War, an additional 10% disability was welcomed. George A. Hofmann
INCREASER DISABILITY COMPENSATION
-\ 2 2
The item(s) checked below apply to you:
[0 1. The evidence establishes that your service-conneeted condition has increased in severity. The rating for your disability
has been increased from oo .
@ 2 Due to the d severity Iy ded in your physical condition, the following evaluations and combined
rating have been assigned for your disabilities:
Conditinn Prior @ New &
g g s R 2 a0z
\yw vl 10z
- 502
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2ndLt George A. Hofmann




WIE)

2ndLt George A. Hofmann

(b)(6)&b)s)

[Redacted document]

27

[ 9411 Posttraumatic stress disorder

4.130-2 §4.130—Scheduling of rati ental di 4.130-2

ANXIETY DISORDERS

9400 Generalized anxiety disorder

9403 Specific (simple) phobia: social phobia
9404 Obsessive compulsive disorder

9410 Other and unspecified neurosis

9412 Panic disorder and/or agoraphobia
9413 Anxiety disorder, not otherwise specified

9411 Was now a legitimate VA code for medical disorders.

It is interesting to note that this saga resulted in disability
payments of $363 per month - $1,358 in 2024 dollars.

But as George moved on in years, the story continued. Three
years later in 1983, there was another crisis when he was
rushed to the hospital with apparent congestive heart failure
possibly due to hypertension and anxiety from severe
claustrophobia.

Just being admitted to a small room in the hospital was
overwhelming and taken from floor to floor in elevators made
it worse.

When released, he again submitted a claim to the Veterans
Administration. This time it was in mom’s very legible
handwriting.
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VETERAHS ADHINSTRATION SHEIA. BEEUINTY B N PH e

STATEMENT I SUPPORT OF CLAIM _| 0 7- QZ-6£53] ¢

TIRVALY ACT INFORMIATION: T anbonmation & AU b b oty A by Pxaating | L
Aecossiey 10 datvenine e ||Ihllum'al 12 ool Imu(m -mhul forvpdee tha lu- 'lhn mlmmum mhmuul iy b .XmImml
wetration waly i pemitiod by in

ot itTonflomiovuny and
Fins AME - IIDDLE NANE -I.Ai' NAME OF VEYERAN (°
—% 3:- ¢ peint) / /
The following/flatement is made in conaection with a gfdim for benefits in the cose of the above-named veteran:

» o . . . S d
(RREA L2t g ) (2 @ idlap e Loz gpealeme S en
7 . 7 ) a . 7 +
€4 el - Kl DL EIEL) LA
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7
PENALTY « The tuw provides severe pedinliics whl\h nelde lm» moﬂwn-enl. or bum lw willful submlssion of ony siatement ot
ovidonor of o mat ial fact, kiowiag it o le Salse,

VAo 91, 41383 AT OGRS OF VATPONNH s AL 3973
RO i WikL B o

o o/ @icol eout? %%a/we, y
b Crrecdilon Lz, &»7"
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2ndLt George A. Hofmann

Following this claim application of November 30, 1983, the Veterans
Administration Claim File contains seventy pages of documents covering a
six-month evaluation period - tests, interpretations, follow-up requests ad
nauseum. Finally, on May 31, 1984, six months before mom’s passing, a
Rating Decision was made raising dad’s disability for causes during World
War Il to 80%, primarily for PTSD.
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2ndLt George A. Hofmann
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2ndLt George A. Hofmann

[Redacted document]

This ratings report captures everything ever reported over the prior forty years. It still expresses some doubts to the validity of the claims but,
nonetheless, increases his disability coverage substantially. Monthly disability payments almost doubled to $732 per month - $2,173 in 2024 dollars.
That rate would commence as soon as he provided proof of his marriage in 1942! [Ed Note: Once again, you can’t make this stuff up].

The Veterans Administration offers additional benefits for inability to work due to disability. Having stopped work as Supervisor of Public Works for the

Margate, Florida, Department of Public Works in 1984, George applied for additional coverage. His request was denied as there were no documented
records of him retiring due to disability.
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The Twilight Years

Hazel Jane Hofmann Schuch passed away on November 21, 1984, and disability payments no longer including
spousal benefits were adjusted to $692 per month - $2,054 in 2024 dollars. Her passing was much more than
a financial hit, however, — it was the loss of his ‘rock’. In spite of their troubles, she hung in there until the end
as the only person who fully understood what had happened to him during the war.

As a follow-up to his last disability rating assessment one year prior, the Veterans Administration contacted
George in March of 1985 to schedule yet another disability examination and evaluation. Since he had recently
moved back to New York to live with my brother and he would now be going to the Northport VA Hospital on
Long Island. Records and bank accounts were transferred and he settled in with family.

The years that followed were difficult as his PTSD hung on without relief. It was now exacerbated by extreme
loneliness. Alone in his apartment, my bother could hear him talking to Hazel every night.

| did my best to re-engage with him. We had many visits and long walks together which he always told me he
really appreciated. We attended sporting events where he had difficulties handling the crowds but always
jumped at the chance to go. True to my mom’s advice to “never go there”, we never talked about the war.

In 1996, twelve years later just two days shy of his 80" birthday, the very month I retired from Bell Laboratories
and he rejoiced at my leaving the stress of the job, he passed from lung cancer — another result of a wartime-
related intense smoking habit he developed. The tobacco companies were pretentious in providing endless
supplies of free cigarettes to our troops and, through the Red Cross, to our POWs. They pressured families to
buy cigarette and send them overseas as a way of comforting their sons and daughters on the front lines. They
knew they were developing a massive market and that is all that mattered. They fooled me too, as | gave him
many Christmas and birthdays gifts of cartons of cigarettes. Another regret | carry.

In spite of all this, he was a great dad. He worked hard to provide for his family, always had time for my
brother and | and taught me many skills that | still use today. | wish | could take back the insensitive stubborn
disagreements we had as adults. | could say | should have known better but he was a master at not letting me
know. In his final years, | began to recognize his needs and my selfishness. Our long walks together closed the
gap that | had allowed to grow.

| was with him the night he died and in spite of the grief of loss, we formed a memory | will always cherish.

It was a weekday night and | had been driving 70 miles each way after work from New Jersey to the Northport
VA Hospital to be with him most nights. That night, we talked for a few hours. His memory was clear but his
voice was weak and labored due to fluid build-up from terminal congestive heart failure. He constantly felt like
he was drowning — the worst fear of a claustrophobic.

Early in our conversation he asked me to remind him to tell me something before | left for the evening.
Seemed like a strange request and, of course, | forgot. As | was leaving, he stopped me and said, “you were
supposed to remind me | wanted to tell you something.”

He motioned me to come closer and | stood by the side of the bed. He motioned me to come closer still, and
then closer. | put my ear to his mouth and he whispered, “ice cream!”

| said, “are you kidding,” and he shook his head and smiled.

Oh crap! Itis 11:30 PM out in the middle of nowhere on Long Island after businesses had closed, and he wants
ice cream. Thus, the midnight scavenger hunt began.

Cafeteria closed. Restaurants closed. Not many convenience stores around at that time. But, | did find a gas
station that was open that had a freezer with a few ice cream sandwiches for sale. Hallelujah!
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Back to the hospital as quickly as | could to keep them cold, | handed one to my father. He fumbled trying to
open it and handed it back to me. | unwrapped it and broke off small pieces, hand feeding him one piece at a
time. He was beaming — and covered in chocolate. In that moment, our roles completely reversed. | was now
the parent feeding his son. We laughed and laughed as he finished his ice cream — then he ate mine!

| wiped the mess from his smiling and totally satisfied face and he looked at me with a grin saying, “OK, you
can go now.” | headed home and when | arrived, my phone rang. It was my brother, John. Dad was gone.

It had been very satisfying to write his story but very painful as this final chapter was discovered. It is one of

many veteran stories that needed to be told and now it is complete. What remains for me now is to deal with
my regrets.
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September 28, 1917 — September 26, 1996
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